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university of notre dame

statistical
highlights
		

2013			

2012			

2011			

2010

Undergraduate 		

8,477 		

8,475 		

8,452 		

8,437 		

8,372

Graduate and professional

3,647 		

3,651 		

3,552 			

3,548 		

3,444

12,124 		

12,126 		

12,004 		

11,985 		

11,816

					

2014

STUDENTS					

Total fall enrollment		

ADMISSIONS					
Undergraduate:					
Applications

17,647 		

16,957 		

16,548 		

14,521 		

14,357

Offers of admission

		

3,936 		

3,947 		

4,019 		

4,177 		

4,113

Enrolled

			

2,071 		

2,014 		

2,020 		

2,067 		

2,064

Selectivity			

22.3%			

23.3%			

24.3%			

28.8%			

28.6%

Yield					

52.6%			

51.0%			

50.3%			

49.5%			

50.2%

Graduate School1: 					
Master’s level		

			

Applications			

1,421 		

1,417 		

1,219 			

1,087 			

877

Offers of admission		

256 			

298 			

224 			

185 			

184

Enrolled				

159 			

178 			

167 			

Selectivity 			

18.0%			

21.0%			

18.4%			

17.0%			

134		

21.0%

138

Yield					

62.1%			

59.7%			

74.6%			

72.4%			

75.0%

					
Doctoral level					
Applications

		

3,621 		

4,205 			

3,534 			

3,334 			

2,786

Offers of admission		

597 			

617 			

591 			

558 			

553

Enrolled

			

275 			

310 			

296 			

296 		

289

Selectivity			

16.5%			

14.7%			

16.7%			

16.7%			

19.8%

Yield					

46.1%			

50.2%			

50.1%			

53.0%			

52.3%

DEGREES CONFERRED2					
2,173 			

2,078 			

2,078 			

2,126

983 		

940 			

891 			

951 			

910

Juris Doctorate 		

180 			

183 		

197 			

189 			

172

Doctorate–Research		

206 			

214 			

210 		

159 			

160

Total degrees conferred		

3,475 			

3,510 			

3,376 			

3,377 			

3,368

UNDERGRADUATE TUITION RATE

$

Percent increase over prior year		

44,098

$

3.8%			

42,464 		

$

3.8%			

					
1 Does not include Graduate Architecture, Business, or Law.					
2 Includes degrees awarded in all categories.					

40,910

$

3.8%			

39,412

$

37,970

3.8%			

4.5%
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2,106 		

Master’s (includes MBA)		

2014

Baccalaureate 		
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from the president
Rev. John I. Jenkins, C.S.C.

university of notre dame

Since its founding, one of Notre Dame’s greatest
assets has been the boldness of its vision—the ability
to see possibilities and connections where others saw
only obstacles and fragmentation.

4

A year ago, we announced the largest construction
project in Notre Dame history—a Campus Crossroads
that will unite and inspire members of our campus
community for decades to come. Before the year
ended, we finalized plans, raised funds, and began
construction on new buildings adjacent to the
football stadium that will provide much-needed
space in a central campus location for the academy,
student life, and athletics at a projected cost of
$400 million. We also began work on a new research
building east of the library that will provide lab space
for new discoveries in science and engineering. We
announced the Keough School of Global Affairs, which
along with the social sciences, will be housed in two
new buildings on Notre Dame Avenue. Upcoming
plans include two new residence halls to support
student life and a new building for the School of
Architecture.

that we maintain a sustainable rate of payout on the
endowment and require full funding before we begin
any construction. This report documents how these
management principles have made it possible for
us to become the preeminent Catholic research
university in the world.

Of course, it is what goes on in the buildings—not
the buildings themselves—that are the real mark of
progress. Nevertheless, more space for creativity,
scholarship, and research will enhance our ability to
work in service of our mission. Since its founding,
one of Notre Dame’s greatest assets has been the
boldness of its vision—the ability to see possibilities
and connections where others saw only obstacles
and fragmentation. These projects continue that
boldness of vision and show our confidence in a
strong fiscal foundation.

In the early decades of Notre Dame’s history, most
would have had a hard time imagining, even in their
wildest dreams, what their school would become.
Yet it has accomplished so much through the efforts
of successive generations to envision and pursue a
fuller, bolder realization for the University. Thanks
to the collective contributions of our scholars and
researchers, students, administrative leaders,
benefactors, and alumni, we continue that tradition
today and embrace a bold vision rooted in our history
and distinctive mission. We are proud of our past and
excited about the future.

Notre Dame has a tradition of supporting ambitious
goals with careful management of our financial
resources. Our conservative fiscal policy demands

Despite some challenges which continue to impact
higher education, Notre Dame has created new faculty
positions to bolster our teaching and research, offered
additional financial aid to meet the growing needs of
undergraduates and their families, and enhanced staff
support, libraries, and infrastructure to accomplish
our educational mission. We feel confident that we
will succeed because we have both a strong track
record and a superb leadership team. We also share a
commitment to a mission which provides a clear sense
of purpose and direction as we pursue our goals.

Rev. John I. Jenkins, C.S.C., President

2014
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financial overview
John F. Affleck-Graves

While construction of new facilities may result in changes
to the bricks and mortar of campus, the distinct spirit of
Notre Dame remains and has never been brighter.

university of notre dame

Notre Dame’s Main Quad, including the Main Building and
Basilica of the Sacred Heart, always has been and always
will be the “heart” of our campus. But as our campus
expanded, the iconic Notre Dame Stadium’s location
became more central. Each week, students enter our largest
classroom building, DeBartolo Hall, just to the west of the
stadium, more than 100,000 times. This hub of student
activity, combined with the desire to make use of the space
in and around the stadium more than just a dozen or so
times a year, led to the Campus Crossroads project. Eightyfour University faculty and staff devoted more than 3,100
hours to an oversight committee and eight working groups
to explore how to make the stadium a year-round center for
academic and student life. They were assisted by outside
consultants with expertise in architecture, engineering,
technology, food services, and student life.

6

These dedicated individuals developed a plan for the
largest construction project since the University’s founding
in 1842. While certainly a huge challenge, ambitious
goals have always propelled Notre Dame toward being a
preeminent Catholic research university. The plan features
three new structures attached to and serving the stadium—
a student center on the west side, including space for
student organizations, a recreation center, and career
center; an academic building on the east side for the
anthropology and psychology departments as well as a
digital media center; and a building for the Department
of Music and the Sacred Music at Notre Dame program
on the south side.
We feel confident about this bold project because we have
built a strong record through a conservative fiscal policy
and careful stewardship of our resources. The University’s
construction funding policy requires that we have all of
the funds pledged and 75 percent in hand before breaking
ground—an approach that has allowed us to keep low
levels of debt and also complete projects on schedule.

Notre Dame was founded by leaders with bold aspirations,
and today’s University continues that tradition. As Father
Jenkins outlined in his letter, over the next few years we will
undertake the most robust building plan the University
has ever executed. Notre Dame has maintained a balanced
budget, reallocated resources to strategic needs, and
preserved the spending power of the endowment. In turn,
investments have been made to expand the international
reach of the University, to hire nearly 80 new faculty
members, to create an office to focus on and enhance
our Catholic mission, and to provide additional research
opportunities for faculty and students.
The economic climate for higher education remains
challenging and we are well positioned to meet those
challenges. Strong endowment performance, diversity
of revenue streams, consistent student demand, and
a generous donor base create a stable revenue picture
and give us confidence. Members of the Notre Dame
family generously supported its mission by contributing
over $640 million in the 2014 fiscal year. This level of
benefaction reflects a 66 percent increase over the
previous year and exceeded any prior year by over $250
million. The University also experienced a record year of
unrestricted giving, with more than $39 million contributed
to support emerging needs and strategic priorities. Our
2015 budget continues to balance the pressure of college
affordability with the lowest tuition increase in more
than 50 years, as well as an unprecedented $120 million
investment in undergraduate need-based aid.
We have many traditions at Notre Dame, not the least of
which is setting bold aspirations. With aspirations come
growth, change, and an enhanced experience for our
students. So while construction of new facilities may result
in changes to the bricks and mortar of campus, the distinct
spirit of Notre Dame remains and has never been brighter.

John F. Affleck-Graves, Executive Vice President

2014
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investment review
Scott C. Malpass

We will continue to adhere to the diligent and sound
process that has led to these results for the benefit
of the Notre Dame family.
Investors had much to think about, and very few clear
answers, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014.
Significant geopolitical tensions, unstable and
conflicting signals about economic growth and labor
market trends, and the varied effects of aggressive
central bank stimulus globally contributed to uncertainty,
even as complacency often took hold in the markets.

This extraordinary period of ambiguity once again
affirmed the value of the University’s long-standing
investment philosophy, which we speak of often. It
is anchored in three core principles: diversification,
partnering with the highest quality managers in each
asset class, and liquidity. This approach resulted in
a fiscal year return for the Notre Dame Endowment
Pool of 19.7 percent net of investment management
fees, with the market value of the Pool increasing from
$8.32 billion to $9.81 billion at the end of the year.

Endowment Pool Market Value (As of June 30)
10,000
9,000
8,000
7,000

8
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All asset classes produced strong returns, with
performance led by the venture capital portfolio
and emerging markets public equities managers.
While both are volatile areas, we have not attempted
to time these markets but entered them early and
have remained committed to our strategy. These are
areas where the benefit of partnering with the top

managers clearly evidences itself, as the ability to
identify opportunities and inefficiencies with some
consistency can lead to substantial outperformance
compared to benchmarks and to other asset classes.
Asset allocation compared to internal Strategic Policy
Portfolio targets at the end of the fiscal year is shown
in the accompanying chart.

Endowment Pool Asset Allocation (As of June 30, 2014)
45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%
0%
Public Equities

Marketable Alternatives

Private Equity

Fixed Income

Strategic Policy Portfolio

Notre Dame Endowment Pool

Multi-year performance of course is paramount
for an endowment with an infinite time horizon,
and trailing period returns up to 15 years for the

Real Assets

Endowment Pool compared to various benchmarks
are detailed below.

university of notre dame

Endowment Pool Investment Performance (Periods ended June 30, 2014)
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					 1 Year			

5 Years			

10 Years			

15 Years

Notre Dame Endowment Pool (%)		

19.7			

13.2			

10.8			

10.7

Strategic Policy Portfolio (%)		

13.0 		

9.1 		

7.0 		

5.9

TUCS Large Fund Median (%)		

16.5			

12.8 		

7.6 		

6.4

60/40 Index Blend (%)		

15.5			

11.0 		

7.0 		

5.6

Notre Dame Endowment Pool returns are net of investment management fees. The Strategic Policy Portfolio (SPP) is Notre Dame’s internal
benchmark consisting of indices representative of the target investment portfolio. The Trust Universe Comparison Service (TUCS) Large
Fund Median is a compilation of returns of endowment, pension, and foundation investors greater than $1 billion and thus provides a basis for
comparison to the performance of large institutional investors generally. The 60/40 mix is an index blend of stocks/bonds as represented
by the MSCI All Country World Investable Index and the Barclays Capital U.S. Aggregate Bond Index and thus is a measure
of performance compared to a more traditional or retail portfolio.

Endowment Pool spending in fiscal 2014 in support
of University activities was $300 million, funding
25 percent of the University’s expenditures during
the year. Of this amount, 32 percent was directed
to scholarships and fellowships for students. Over

the 15 years shown on the accompanying spending
chart, more than $2.7 billion was distributed
from the Endowment Pool in furtherance of the
University’s mission.

Endowment Pool Spending (Fiscal years ended June 30)
300
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Dollar in millions
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Achievement of the investment performance
described above on a steady basis over lengthy
periods of time despite market cycles or
extraordinary situations like those that arose
during the fiscal year, and the concurrent ability
to increase spending from the Endowment Pool,

2009

2014

demonstrates the effectiveness of our core
investment philosophy. The challenge of course
is in the implementation, and we will continue to
adhere to the diligent and sound process that has
led to these results for the benefit of the Notre
Dame family.
Scott C. Malpass, Vice President and
2014

Chief Investment Office
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University
highlights
Campus Crossroads:
the largest building project
in University history

Using Notre Dame Stadium as a hub, academic
and student life facilities will be constructed
on the east, west, and south sides of the iconic
football venue. The 750,000-square-foot
project will cost an estimated $400 million.

2014

annual report
13

It was a year of
anniversaries
at Notre Dame:

50
The Hesburgh Library
turned 50.

125

The Basilica of the Sacred Heart
marked its 125th year.

200
university of notre dame

The 200th anniversary of the
birth of the University’s founder,
Rev. Edward F. Sorin, C.S.C.,
was February 6, 2014.

14

The University has
unveiled a new
strategic plan

“A Legacy Expanded” includes a
set of enduring commitments—
well-established strategies that
have and will continue to guide
future actions—as well as areas
of enhancement that will spur
new energy and innovation for
the next 10 years.

A study commissioned by the
University found that the
economic impact of Notre Dame’s
employment, spending, students,
visitors, and research brought

The Notre Dame athletics
program completed what was
arguably the greatest year in its
long and storied history.

22/26
$1.67

billion
in economic activity
and 13,766 jobs

to St. Joseph County in 2012.
It was the third such study
produced for the University
by the New York-based
consulting firm Appleseed.

Biologists Nicole
Achee and Neil Lobo
received a

$23
million grant

from the Gates Foundation—
the second-largest grant in
University history—to lead
a five-year project that will
generate the data required to
show the effectiveness of a new
paradigm in mosquito control in
an effort to prevent malaria and
dengue fever.

sports qualified
for postseason
competition,

the men’s programs won the
Capital One Cup as the best in
the nation, and both the men’s
and women’s programs finished
third nationally in the all-sports
competition sponsored by
the National Association of
Collegiate Directors of Athletics.
Highlights included a national
championship in men’s soccer,
a fourth consecutive Final Four
appearance by the women’s
basketball team, and a national
championship game appearance
by men’s lacrosse. In the
classroom, Notre Dame studentathletes had the

No. 1

graduation rate in the
nation for the seventh
consecutive year.
The first Notre Dame
Day was held

April 27 and 28, bringing
together all members of the Notre
Dame family from around the
world to celebrate the University’s
many accomplishments via a
29-hour streaming webcast,
social media efforts, and oncampus events.

Notre Dame
opened a new

Global
Gateway
in Rome
in a renovated building a block
from the Colosseum. The
Global Gateways—also located
in Beijing, Chicago, Dublin,
Jerusalem, and London—are
academic and intellectual
centers that expand traditional
study abroad programs to bring
together scholars, students,
and leaders from universities,
government, business, and the
community to discuss issues of
topical and enduring relevance.

The Alliance for
Catholic Education
marked its
20th anniversary

to construct new academic
facilities on the south side
of the campus.

A new
facility for
international
studies,

underwritten by Donald and
Marilyn Keough, to be named
after Father Jenkins.
A gift from Matthew and
Joyce Walsh will be used
for the construction of

a new facility
for the
School of
Architecture.
A new social
sciences
building

will be made possible by a gift from
Robert S. and Elizabeth Nanovic.

Alumnus and Trustee
John W. “Jay” Jordan
made a

$75
million gift

to his alma mater, the largest in
Notre Dame’s history. The gift,
which makes him the University’s
most generous benefactor with
total giving of $150 million, will
be directed toward the creation
of a world-class research
program in an area of science
and technology that is new to
Notre Dame and has the potential
to create innovative intellectual
property that has important
commercial potential.

No. 1
undergraduate
business program

For a fifth consecutive year,
Bloomberg Businessweek ranked
Mendoza College of Business as
the No. 1 undergraduate program
in the nation. The survey ranked
132 U.S. undergraduate business
programs.

2014
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A nationwide bus tour raised
awareness of the profound impact
K-12 schools have on the future
of our nation’s children and the
unique role that Catholic schools
play in education. The ACE bus
visited 50 cities, with faculty
and staff engaging in dialogue on
important topics in education and
honoring schools and educators.

Three significant gifts
will be used

15

Notre Dame to build
the nation’s foremost
research and test facility
for gas turbine engines.

university of notre dame

Notre Dame and five partners—General
Electric Co., the city, the state, Indiana
Michigan Power, and Great Lakes Capital—
will collaborate on a $36 million project to
advance the technology used in massive gas
turbine engines for commercial and military
aircraft, power plants, and the oil and gas
industry. In addition to providing a testing
facility, the project will have a significant
economic impact on the community with
dozens of high-paying jobs.

16

2014
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Father Jenkins, the President’s
Leadership Council, and
members of the Board of
Trustees spent an hour with
Pope Francis at the Vatican.

“From its founding,” the pope said, “the University
of Notre Dame has made an outstanding contribution
to the Church in your country through its commitment
to the religious education of the young and to serious
scholarship inspired by confidence in the harmony of
faith and reason and in the pursuit of truth and virtue.”

2014
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Board of Trustees
University of Notre Dame du Lac
Notre Dame, Indiana

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the University of Notre Dame du Lac and
its subsidiaries (the “University”) which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of June 30, 2014
and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of changes in unrestricted net assets, changes in net assets,
and cash flows for the years then ended.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the University’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

university of notre dame

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the University of Notre Dame du Lac and its subsidiaries at June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the
changes in their unrestricted net assets, net assets and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

22

Chicago, Illinois
November 18, 2014

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

( in tho usands)

														As of June 30		

											
Assets		

2014			

2013

			

		

Cash and cash equivalents

		

Accounts receivable, net (Note 2)		

$

94,259		

29,039			

$

148,564

		

Deferred charges and other assets (Note 3)		

47,367			

49,472

		

Contributions receivable, net (Note 4)		

307,175			

197,703

		

Notes receivable, net (Note 5)		

28,094

45,925			

46,007

		Investments (Note 6)		 10,012,952			

8,509,334

		

1,350,192

Land, buildings and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation (Note 7)		

			Total assets

$

1,382,730			
11,919,447		

$ 10,329,366

						
					
Liabilities					
		

Accounts payable (Note 7)

		

Short-term borrowing (Note 8)		

$

143,038			

35,875		

$

		

Deferred revenue and refundable advances (Note 9)		

83,607			

76,125

		

Deposits and other liabilities (Note 10)		

97,162			

98,907

		

Liabilities associated with investments (Note 6)		

745,785			

623,273

		

Obligations under split-interest agreements (Note 17)		

121,979			

107,779

		

Bonds and notes payable (Note 11)		

668,532			

821,920

		

Conditional asset retirement obligations (Note 7)		

		

Pension and other postretirement benefit obligations (Note 13)		

107,680

		

100,935

		

Government advances for student loans (Note 5)		

29,670

		

29,525

			Total liabilities		

2,058,141

		

2,033,231

24,813			

43,324
108,000

23,443

									
Net Assets					
		Unrestricted (Note 14)		

4,365,745		

3,710,534

		

Temporarily restricted (Note 15)		

3,822,008		

3,070,159

		

Permanently restricted (Note 15)		

1,673,553		

1,515,442

			Total net assets		

9,861,306		

8,296,135

11,919,447		

$ 10,329,366

			Total liabilities and net assets

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2014
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets
(in tho us a n ds )

												
Years ended June 30		

											

2014			

2013

Operating Revenues and Other Additions				
		
		

Tuition and fees

$

Less: Tuition scholarships and fellowships		

$

504,325

(233,080 )		

521,396

(226,857 )

			Net tuition and fees		

288,316 		

277,468

		

Grants and contracts (Note 18)		

109,809		

105,260

		

Contributions		

39,126

		

Accumulated investment return distributed (Note 6)		

97,307 		

95,751

		

Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises		

231,941		

214,322

		

Other sources		

47,320 		

45,741

		

38,547

			Total operating revenues		

813,819		

777,089

		

Net assets released from restrictions (Note 15)		

210,750		

196,519

			Total operating revenues and other additions		

1,024,569		

973,608

							
Operating Expenses				
		

Instruction			

339,323

		

320,417

		

Research 			

107,325

		

107,901

		

Public service		

27,446

		

22,847

		

Academic support		

94,204

		

88,512

		

Student activities and services		

46,111 		

44,532

		

General administration and support		

179,888		

178,353

		

Auxiliary enterprises		

213,421		

196,705

			Total operating expenses		

1,007,718

		

959,267

			Increase in unrestricted net assets from operations		

16,851

		

14,341

							
Non-Operating Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets				
		

Contributions			

29,454

		

9,059

		

Investment income (Note 6)		

52,216

		

35,730

		

Net gain on investments (Note 6)		

626,762			

338,035

		

Accumulated investment return distributed (Note 6)		

(97,307 )		

(95,751 )

		

Net gain/(loss) on debt-related derivative instruments (Note 12)		

		

Net assets released from restrictions (Note 15)		

		

Net pension and postretirement benefits-related changes 				

		

Other non-operating changes		

university of notre dame

other than net periodic benefits costs (Note 13)		

24

(6,560 )

		

14,756

		

40,861

(9,867 ) 		

23,639

42,475

1,187

			Increase in unrestricted net assets from 				
			
non-operating activities 		
638,360
			Increase in unrestricted net assets
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$

655,211

		

1,618

		

367,947

$

382,288

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets

( in tho usands)

													Years ended June 30		

											

2014			

2013

Unrestricted Net Assets				
		Operating revenues and other additions

$

1,024,569

$

973,608

		Operating expenses		
(1,007,718 )		(959,267 )
			Increase in unrestricted net assets from operations		

16,851			

14,341

			Increase in unrestricted net assets from 				
		

non-operating activities 		

638,360			

367,947

			Increase in unrestricted net assets		

655,211			

382,288

									
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets				
		Contributions			 186,734			108,240
		

Investment income (Note 6)		

60,086 		

40,552

		

Net gain on investments (Note 6)		

740,809		

397,637

		

Change in value of split-interest agreements (Note 17)		

13,780 		

3,258

		

Net assets released from restrictions (Note 15)		

(253,225 )		

(237,380 )

		

Other changes in temporarily restricted net assets		

3,665			

1,697

			Increase in temporarily restricted net assets		

751,849			

314,004

									
Permanently Restricted Net Assets				
		

Contributions			

		

Investment income (Note 6)		

		

Net gain/(loss) on investments (Note 6)		

		

Change in value of split-interest agreements (Note 17)		

6,032

		

Other changes in permanently restricted net assets		

(2,786 )

			Increase in permanently restricted net assets		

151,927 		

66,759

2,615 		
323		

1,571
(6 )

		

668
(570 )

158,111			

68,422

			Increase in net assets		

1,565,171		

			Net assets at beginning of year		

8,296,135 		

7,531,421

			Net assets at end of year

9,861,306

8,296,135

$

764,714		

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2014

annual report
25

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in tho us a n ds )

												
Years ended June 30				
										

2014			

2013

Cash Flows from Operating Activities				
		Increase in net assets

$

1,565,171

		

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to				

		

net cash used by operating activities:				

$

764,714

			

Net gain on investments		

(1,367,894 )

		

(735,666 )

			

Contributions for long-term investment		

(134,601 )

		

(71,672 )

			Contributed securities		 (91,291 )		 (76,709 )
			

Proceeds from sales of securities contributed for operations		

			

Depreciation		

			

Loss on disposal of land, buildings and equipment		

			

Change in contributions receivable		

4,553 		
60,667

3,044
		

57,623

(109,472 )		

(5,978 )

2,174

3,911

			

Change in value of split-interest agreements		

			

Change in conditional asset retirement obligations		

(19,561 )
1,370

		

962

			

Change in pension and other postretirement benefit obligations

6,745			

(22,187 )

			

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				

				

Accounts receivable, deferred charges and other assets		

				

Accounts payable, deferred revenue and refundable 				

			
			

advances, and deposits and other liabilities		
Other, net		

					Net cash used by operating activities		

(3,759 )

1,160		

(10,426 )

(1,712 )

		

4,685

7,666

		

(7,351 )

(75,025 )		

(98,809 )

						
Cash Flows from Investing Activities				
		

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments		

2,345,649			

1,695,528

		

Purchases of investments		

(2,340,981 )

		

(1,761,757 )

		

Purchases of land, buildings and equipment		

(98,748 )		

(111,775 )

		

Student and other loans granted		

(4,771 )		

		

Student and other loans repaid		

5,129		

					Net cash used by investing activities		

(4,290 )
18,987

(93,722 )		

(163,307 )
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities				
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Investment income restricted for non-operational purposes		

		

Contributions for long-term investment		

5,187 		

3,166

		

Proceeds from sales of securities contributed for long-term investment		

83,749		

72,104

		

Proceeds from short-term borrowing		

913,381		

462,289

(878,343 )

143,444 		

99,430

		

Repayment of short-term borrowing		

		

(469,340 )

		

Payments to beneficiaries of split-interest agreements		

(11,031 )		

(8,634 )

		

Repayment of bonds and notes		

(153,217 )		

(3,089 )

		

Government advances for student loans		

258

		

267

		

Cash accepted for investment on behalf of religious affiliates		

21,216

		

178,809

		

Cash returned to religious affiliates		

(10,202 )

		

(12,879 )

					Net cash provided by financing activities		

114,442		

					Net change in cash and cash equivalents		
					Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		
					Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

322,123

(54,305 )		

60,007

148,564

		

88,557

94,259

$

148,564

$

27,276

Supplemental Data				
		

Interest paid		

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$

25,158

				

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(All a mo unts in tho usands)

Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The University of Notre Dame du Lac is a private, national Catholic research university. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements include the assets and operations of certain other entities under the financial
control of the University of Notre Dame du Lac. The University of Notre Dame du Lac and entities included herein
are referred to individually and collectively as the “University.”
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The consolidated financial statements reflect
the activities of the University as a whole and present balances and transactions according to the existence or
absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified as follows:
Unrestricted Net Assets – Net assets not subject to donor-imposed restrictions and available for any purpose

consistent with the University’s mission. Revenues are generally reported as increases in unrestricted net
assets unless the use of the related assets is limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Investment returns
generated by unrestricted funds functioning as endowment and other sources are classified as changes in
unrestricted net assets. Operating expenses are reported as decreases in unrestricted net assets.
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets – Net assets subject to specific, donor-imposed restrictions that must be met

by actions of the University and/or passage of time. Contributed assets normally fund specific expenditures
of an operating or capital nature. Investment returns on donor-restricted endowment funds are classified as
changes in temporarily restricted net assets. Subject to the University’s endowment spending policy and any
restrictions on use imposed by donors, accumulated investment returns on donor-restricted endowments
are generally available for appropriation to support operational needs. Temporarily restricted contributions
or investment returns received and expended within the same fiscal period are reported as increases in
temporarily restricted net assets and net assets released from restrictions, respectively.
Permanently Restricted Net Assets – Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions requiring they be

maintained permanently. Permanently restricted net assets are generally restricted to long-term investment
and are comprised primarily of donor-restricted endowment funds. The University classifies the following
portions of donor-restricted endowment funds as permanently restricted net assets: (a) the original value of
assets contributed to permanent endowment funds, (b) subsequent contributions to such funds valued at the
date of contribution, and (c) reinvested earnings on permanent endowment when specified by the donor.

2014
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The University’s measure of operations presented in the consolidated statements of changes in unrestricted net
assets includes revenues from tuition and fees, grants and contracts, unrestricted contributions designated for
operations, accumulated investment return distributed under the University’s spending policy and revenues from
auxiliary enterprises and other sources, such as licensing and conferences. Other additions include net assets
released from restrictions based upon their expenditure in support of operations or net assets made available
for operations by virtue of the expiration of a term restriction. Operating expenses are reported by functional
categories, after allocating costs for operations and maintenance of plant, interest on indebtedness and
depreciation.
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Non-operating activities presented in the consolidated statements of changes in unrestricted net assets include
unrestricted contributions designated by the University for endowment or investment in buildings and equipment,
investment return in excess of or less than the amount distributed for operations under the spending policy, any
gains or losses on debt-related derivative instruments, and certain net pension and postretirement benefitsrelated changes in net assets. Other non-operating changes in unrestricted net assets include the net activities
of the consolidated limited liability company described in Note 6 and Note 11, the effect of changes in donor intent
with respect to endowment and other funds, and other activities considered unusual or non-recurring in nature.
Non-operating net assets released from restrictions generally reflect the expenditure of net assets restricted to
investment in land, buildings and equipment.
Grants and Contracts
The University recognizes revenues on grants and contracts for research and other sponsored programs as the
awards for such programs are expended. Indirect cost recovery by the University on U.S. government grants and
contracts is based upon a predetermined negotiated rate and is recorded as unrestricted revenue. Advances from
granting agencies are generally considered refundable in the unlikely event specified services are not performed.
Auxiliary Enterprises
The University’s auxiliary enterprises exist primarily to furnish goods and services to students, faculty and staff.
Managed as essentially self-supporting activities, the University’s auxiliaries consist principally of residence
and dining halls, intercollegiate athletics, college stores and other campus retail operations. Auxiliary enterprise
revenues and related expenses are reported as changes in unrestricted net assets.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Resources invested in money market funds, overnight reverse repurchase agreements and other short-term
investments with maturities at date of purchase of three months or less are classified as cash equivalents, except
that any such investments purchased by external investment managers are classified as investments. Overnight
reverse repurchase agreements with banks are secured by U.S. Government securities. Substantially all cash and cash
equivalents are concentrated in accounts in which balances exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits.
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Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded at face value and typically have contractual maturities of less than one year.
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Contributions Receivable
Pledges that represent unconditional promises to give are recognized at fair value as contributions—either
temporarily restricted or permanently restricted—in the period such promises are made by donors. Contributions
recognized as such during the year ended June 30, 2009 and subsequent periods are discounted at a risk-adjusted
rate commensurate with the duration of the donor’s payment plan. Contributions recognized in prior periods under
such commitments were recorded at a discount based on a U.S. Treasury rate. Amortization of the discounts
is recorded as additional contribution revenue. Allowance is made for uncollectible contributions based upon
management’s expectations regarding collection of outstanding promises to give and past collection experience.
Notes Receivable
Notes receivable, which are recorded at face value, principally represent amounts due from students under Perkins
and other U.S. government sponsored loan programs. A general allowance is made for uncollectible student loans
after considering both long-term collection experience and current trends, such as recent default rates of cohorts
entering repayment status. Other notes receivable are evaluated individually for impairment, with allowances
recorded based on management’s expectations given facts and circumstances related to each note.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Investments
Investments are stated at estimated fair value. The University measures the fair values of investments in securities
at the last sales price of the fiscal year on the primary exchange where the security is traded. Non-exchangetraded instruments and over-the-counter positions are primarily valued using independent pricing services, broker
quotes or models with externally verifiable inputs. The fair values of alternative investments (interests in private
equity, hedge, real estate and other similar funds) for which quoted market prices are not available are generally
measured based on reported partner’s capital or net asset value (“NAV”) provided by the associated external
investment managers. The reported partner’s capital or NAV is subject to management’s assessment that the
valuation provided is representative of fair value. The University exercises diligence in assessing the policies,
procedures and controls implemented by its external investment managers, and thus believes the carrying amount
of these assets represents a reasonable estimate of fair value. However, because alternative investments are
generally not readily marketable, their estimated value is subject to inherent uncertainty and therefore may differ
from the value that would have been used had a ready market for such investments existed.
As described in Note 12, the University utilizes certain derivative instruments to manage risks associated with its
investment portfolio. These instruments are stated at fair value. Open futures and options contracts are primarily
valued at the closing exchange quotations on the last business day of the fiscal year. The fair value of certain
over-the-counter contracts for which market quotations are not readily available is based upon third party pricing
services, broker quotes or models with externally verifiable inputs. When appropriate, independent appraisers
may also be engaged to assist in the valuation of such instruments. The fair value of forward currency exchange
contracts is estimated using quotes obtained from foreign exchange dealers. Where management believes a
legal right of offset exists under an enforceable netting agreement, the fair value of these contracts is reported
on a net-by-counterparty basis. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of derivative instruments
associated with the investment portfolio or periodic net cash settlements with counterparties are recorded as
gains or losses on investments.
Investments Held on Behalf of Other Entities

The University serves as the trustee for its employees’ defined benefit pension plan and certain revocable
charitable trusts, managing the investment assets held within the plan and the trusts. The University also
invests capital on behalf of religious affiliates that share the University’s Catholic ministry and educational
missions. Accordingly, the University reports an equal asset and liability in the consolidated statements of
financial position representing the fair value of investments managed on behalf of these entities.

2014

Debt-Related Derivative Instruments
The University utilizes derivative instruments in a limited manner outside of its investment portfolio. As described in
Notes 11 and 12, interest rate swap agreements are used to manage interest rate risk associated with variable rate
bond obligations. These instruments are reported in the consolidated statements of financial position at fair value.
Fair value is estimated based on pricing models that utilize significant observable inputs, such as relevant interest
rates, that reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing the instruments. Any gains or losses
resulting from changes in the fair value of these instruments or periodic net cash settlements with counterparties,
including settlements related to the termination of such instruments, are recognized as non-operating changes in
unrestricted net assets.
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Land, Buildings And Equipment
Institutional properties are stated at cost or at estimated fair value if acquired by gift, less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, averaging 15 years for land improvements, 25-50 years for buildings and 5-25 years for equipment.
The University does not capitalize the cost of library books, nor the cost or fair value of its art collection. The latter
is held for exhibition and educational purposes only and not for financial gain.
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations

The University recognizes asset retirement obligations when incurred. A discounting technique is used
to calculate the present value of the capitalized asset retirement costs and the related obligation. Asset
retirement costs are depreciated over the estimated remaining useful life of the related asset and the asset
retirement obligation is accreted annually to the current present value. Upon settlement of an obligation,
any difference between the retirement obligation and the cost to settle is recognized as a gain or loss in the
consolidated statement of changes in unrestricted net assets. The University’s conditional asset retirement
obligations relate primarily to asbestos remediation and will be settled upon undertaking associated
renovation projects.
Split-Interest Agreements
The University’s split-interest agreements consist principally of charitable gift annuities and irrevocable charitable
remainder trusts for which the University serves as trustee. Contribution revenue is recognized at the date a gift
annuity or trust is established after recording a liability at fair value of the estimated future payments to be made
to beneficiaries. Estimated future payments to beneficiaries are discounted at a risk-adjusted rate. Liabilities
are adjusted during the terms of the agreements to reflect payments to beneficiaries, returns on trust assets,
accretion of discounts and other considerations that affect the estimates of future payments. Net adjustments to
the liabilities are recorded as changes in the value of split-interest agreements.
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Fair Value Measurements
Fair value measurements reflected in the consolidated financial statements conceptually represent the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Generally accepted accounting principles provide a hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to fair value measurements based on the extent to which inputs to valuation techniques are
observable in the marketplace. The hierarchy assigns a higher priority to observable inputs that reflect verifiable
information obtained from independent sources, and a lower priority to unobservable inputs that would reflect
the University’s assumptions about how market participants would value an asset or liability based on the best
information available. Fair value measurements must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use
of unobservable inputs.
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The three levels of the hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value are described briefly as follows:
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are available at the
measurement date.
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, used in situations in which little or no market activity

exists for the asset or liability at the measurement date.
The categorization of fair value measurements by level of the hierarchy is based upon the lowest level input that is
significant to the overall fair value measurement for a given asset or liability.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Fair value measurements of investment assets for which the measurement was based on NAV (or its equivalent) as
provided by an external manager are categorized within Level 2 to the extent such investments were redeemable
with the manager at the NAV (or its equivalent) at the reporting date or within the near term (defined by the
University as within approximately 90 days of the reporting date). Measurements of any such investments that
were not redeemable at the reporting date or within the near term, whether by nature of the investment or as a
result of unexpired terms or conditions restricting redemption at the reporting date, are categorized within Level 3.
In the event that changes in the inputs used in the fair value measurement of an asset or liability results in a
transfer of the fair value measurement to a different categorization (e.g., from Level 3 to Level 2), such transfers
between fair value categories are recognized at the end of the reporting period.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Subsequent Events
The University has evaluated subsequent events through November 18, 2014, the date the financial statements
were issued. No events requiring disclosure were identified.
Tax Status
The University is exempt from federal income taxes under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”),
except to the extent the University generates unrelated business income.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts within fiscal 2013 operating expenses were reclassified to conform to 2014 presentation.

2014
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Note 2.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are summarized as follows at June 30:
							
Research and other sponsored programs support

$

Student receivables		

17,310 		
1,716

Other receivables		
							
Less allowances for uncollectible amounts		
						

2014			

$

$

2013
17,115

		

3,267

10,649 		

8,352

29,675

		

28,734

636			

640

29,039

$

28,094

Activity within allowances for uncollectible amounts was insignificant during the years ended June 30, 2014
and 2013.
Note 3.

Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Deferred charges and other assets are summarized as follows at June 30:
							
Debt-related derivative instruments (Note 12)

$

Retail and other inventories		

2014			
3,830

2013

$

6,464

10,027			

10,412

Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts (Note 15)		

5,720			

5,172

Prepaid rental expenses		

14,212			

15,058

Other deferred charges and prepaid expenses		

13,578			

12,366

47,367		$

49,472

						

$

Note 4.

Contributions Receivable
Contributions receivable are summarized as follows at June 30:
							

2014			

2013
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Unconditional promises expected to be collected in:				
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Less than one year

$

85,011

		

One year to five years		

$

164,677			

98,453		

108,586

		

More than five years		

156,440			

86,157

							 419,570			279,754
Less:					
		Unamortized discounts		 90,148			 61,148
		

Allowances for uncollectible amounts		

22,247			

20,903

							 112,395			 82,051
						

$

307,175		$

197,703

Contributions receivable are discounted at rates ranging from 0.22 percent to 6.91 percent and 0.39 percent to
6.91 percent at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Activity within allowances for uncollectible amounts was
insignificant during the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.
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Contributions receivable, net, are summarized by net asset classification as follows at June 30:
							

2014			

2013

Temporarily restricted for:				
		

Operating purposes

$

41,854

		

Investment in land, buildings and equipment 		

114,177			

53,099

		

Funds functioning as endowment (Note 16)		

10,394			

9,618

		

Total temporarily restricted (Note 15)		

168,229			

104,571

Permanently restricted for endowment (Notes 15 and 16)		

138,946			

93,132

307,175		$

197,703

						

$

$

43,658		

As of June 30, 2014, the University had received documented conditional pledges of $35,630 which are not
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Conditional promises to give are recognized
when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met.
Note 5.

Notes Receivable
Notes receivable are summarized as follows at June 30:
							

2014			

2013

Student notes receivable, related to:				
		

Government sponsored loan programs

		

Institutional student loans		

$

32,849		

$

33,069

845			

979

							 33,694			 34,048
		

Less allowances for uncollectible student notes		

2,153			

2,153

							 31,541			 31,895
Other notes receivable		
						

$

14,384			

14,112

45,925		$

46,007

Government advances to the University for student loan funding, primarily under the Perkins Loan program,
totaled $29,670 and $29,525 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Due to significant restrictions that
apply to government sponsored student loans, determining the fair value of student notes receivable is not
practicable.
Total balances on student notes receivable in past due status were $2,918 and $2,972 at June 30, 2014 and
2013, respectively. The delinquent portions of these balances were $1,709 and $1,664, respectively. Activity
within allowances for uncollectible student notes was insignificant.
2014

The estimated fair value of non-student notes receivable approximated the carrying amount at June 30, 2014
and 2013.
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Note 6.

Investments
Investments reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position are summarized as follows at June 30:
							
Notre Dame Endowment Pool assets

$

2014			

9,771,512		

2013

$

8,305,995

Other investments, associated with:				
		

Endowment and funds functioning as endowment 		

53,583			

42,145

		

Working capital and other University designations		

20,619			

16,146

		

Split-interest agreements (Note 17)		

14,290			

9,839

		

Revocable charitable trusts		

-			

3,164

		

Defined benefit pension plan (Note 13)		

152,948			

132,045

							 241,440			203,339
						

$ 10,012,952		$

8,509,334

Liabilities associated with investments include the following at June 30:
							
Notre Dame Endowment Pool liabilities

$

2014			
63		

$

2013
2,984

Liabilities representing the fair value of investments held on behalf of:				
		Religious affiliates		 592,774			485,080
		

Revocable charitable trusts		

-			

3,164

		

Defined benefit pension plan (Note 13)		

152,948			

132,045

745,785		$

623,273

						

$

The Notre Dame Endowment Pool (“NDEP”) represents the University’s primary investment portfolio. Certain
investments, however, are held in specific instruments outside the NDEP to comply with donor requirements or
other considerations. The pooled assets and liabilities of the NDEP are summarized as follows at June 30:
							
NDEP assets			

$

2014			

9,771,512		

2013

$

8,305,995

NDEP liabilities1 (Note 12)		

(63 )		

(2,984 )

NDEP net assets reflected within the financial statements		

9,771,449			

8,303,011

Equity interest in consolidated company2		
NDEP net assets unitized

$

40,741		
9,812,190		

21,413
$

8,324,424

Represents the fair value of derivative instrument liabilities.
The University is the majority owner of an externally managed limited liability company, the assets and liabilities of which are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the estimated fair value of the University’s equity interest in the company, $40,741
and $21,413 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, is included in NDEP net assets for unitization purposes.
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1
2

Transactions within participating funds that constitute additions to or withdrawals from the NDEP are unitized
on a quarterly basis. The unitized net assets of the NDEP were attributable to the following at June 30:
							
Endowment and funds functioning as endowment

$

6,775,669

1,083,529			

899,577

Student loan funds			

925			

785

Split-interest agreements (Note 17)		

190,735			

163,313

Funds invested on behalf of religious affiliates 3		

592,774			

485,080

9,812,190		$

8,324,424

NDEP holdings were redeemable by religious affiliates at $4,371.38 and $3,777.10 per unit (whole dollars) at June 30, 2014 and
2013, respectively.
3
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$

7,944,227		

2013

Working capital and other University designations		

						

$

2014			
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The NDEP is comprised primarily of endowment-related holdings. As such, its investment objectives seek to
preserve the real purchasing power of the endowment, while providing a stable source of financial support to its
beneficiary programs. To satisfy its long-term rate of return objectives, the NDEP relies on a total return strategy
in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current
yield (interest and dividends). The NDEP maintains a diversified asset allocation that places a greater emphasis
on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints.
Investment assets are summarized in the following tables by asset class at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively:
								 2014
								 Other		
					 NDEP			
Investments			
Short-term investments

$

362,973		$

651		$

Total

363,624

Public equities		
3,685,945			
72,063			
3,758,008
Fixed income securities		

486,059			

8,077			

494,136

Marketable alternatives		
1,178,771			 387			
1,179,158
Private equity		
2,770,434			2,749			
2,773,183
Real estate		
692,434			4,565			
696,999
Other real assets		

594,896			

-			

594,896

					
9,771,512			88,492			
9,860,004
Defined benefit pension plan investments (Note 13)		
				

-			
152,948			
152,948

$ 9,771,512		 $

241,440		 $ 10,012,952

								

2013

								 Other		
					 NDEP			
Investments			
Short-term investments

$

245,559		$

345		$

Total

245,904

Public equities		
2,858,611			
57,842			
2,916,453
Fixed income securities		

426,432			

7,892			

434,324

Marketable alternatives		
1,069,418			 267			
1,069,685
Private equity		
2,359,154			3,045			
2,362,199
Real estate		
667,732			1,903			
669,635
Other real assets		

679,089			

-			

679,089

					
8,305,995			71,294			
8,377,289
Defined benefit pension plan investments (Note 13)		
				

-			
132,045			
132,045

$ 8,305,995		 $

203,339		 $

8,509,334

2014
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Short-term investments include cash and cash equivalents, money market funds, securities with short-term
maturities (such as commercial paper and government securities held either directly or via commingled pools
with daily liquidity) and the fair value of certain derivative instrument assets (see Note 12 for further information
about derivative instruments). Public equities cover the U.S. as well as both developed and emerging markets
overseas, and long/short hedge funds. Marketable alternatives encompass other hedge fund strategies less
correlated with broad equities markets. This includes credit-oriented strategies, multi-strategy funds where
the manager has a broad mandate to invest opportunistically, and event driven funds where managers seek
opportunity in various forms of arbitrage strategies as well as in corporate activities such as mergers and
acquisitions. Private equity primarily includes domestic and foreign buyout and venture capital funds. Other real
assets represents investments in energy and commodities.
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NDEP investments are primarily invested with external managers. The University is committed under contracts
with certain external managers to periodically advance additional funding as capital calls are exercised. Capital
calls are generally exercised over a period of years and are subject to fixed expiration dates or other means
of termination. Uncalled commitments related to NDEP investments are summarized by investment class as
follows at June 30:
											
Private equity			

$

2014			

2013

1,085,667		$

976,956

Real estate				 197,155			207,173
Marketable alternatives		

217,981			

228,016

All other					 164,880			145,871
						

$

1,665,683		$

1,558,016

The following tables reflect fair value measurements of investment assets (excluding defined benefit pension
plan assets) at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, as categorized by level of the fair value hierarchy
according to the lowest level of inputs significant to each measurement:
				

2014

					
Short-term investments

$

Level 1			
260,860		

$

Level 2			
102,764		

$

Level 3 		
-		

Total

$

363,624

Public equities: 								
		

U.S.			

716,159			

412,663			

48,139			

1,176,961

		

Non-U.S.		

212,432			

931,933			

296,989			

1,441,354

		

Long/short strategies		

-			

540,714			

598,979			

1,139,693

Fixed income securities 		

118,704			

375,432			

-			

494,136

Marketable alternatives 		

-			

681,777			

497,381			

1,179,158
2,773,183

Private equity 		

-			

-			

2,773,183			

Real estate 		

38,517			

-			

658,482			

696,999

Other real assets 		

489			

3,085			

591,322			

594,896

				

$

1,347,161		

$

3,048,368		

$

5,464,475		

$

9,860,004

Level 3 		

Total

2013
					
Short-term investments

$

Level 1			
214,119		

$

Level 2			
31,785		

$

-		

$

245,904
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Public equities: 								
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U.S.			

346,541			

326,025			

35,186			

707,752

		

Non-U.S.		

164,265			

783,618			

227,659			

1,175,542

		

1,033,159

Long/short strategies		

-			

461,847			

571,312			

Fixed income securities 		

124,582			

309,742			

-			

434,324

Marketable alternatives 		

-			

576,649			

493,036			

1,069,685
2,362,199

Private equity 		

-			

-			

2,362,199			

Real estate 		

31,080			

-			

638,555			

669,635

Other real assets 		

108,680			

26,496			

543,913			

679,089

				

$

989,267		

$

2,516,162		

$

4,871,860		

$

8,377,289

Certain short-term investments and fixed income securities categorized within Level 2 are not traded in active
markets but are measured using pricing sources such as broker quotes, or using models with externally verifiable
inputs, such as relevant interest or exchange rates.
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Other investments categorized within Levels 2 and 3 primarily reflect assets invested with external managers,
the fair value measurements for which are generally based on NAV (or the equivalent) as provided to the
University by the external managers. Investments in funds within public equities and marketable alternatives
redeemable at NAV (or its equivalent) at the measurement date or within the near term are reflected in Level 2,
while funds that are subject to restrictions that limit the University’s ability to withdraw capital within the near
term are reflected in Level 3. Redemption terms for these funds generally restrict withdrawals of capital for a
defined “lock-up” period after investment, and thereafter typically allow withdrawals on a quarterly or annual
basis with notice periods ranging from 30 to 180 days. Lock-up periods for funds reflected in Level 3 generally
expire during the period from six months to three years after the measurement date. In addition, investor capital
in these funds attributable to illiquid investments, often referred to as “side pockets,” generally is not available for
redemption until the investments are realized by the fund. Most funds within private equity, real estate and other
real assets, as well as certain marketable alternatives funds, are not redeemable at the direction of the investor
and are reflected in Level 3. These funds make distributions to investing partners as the underlying assets of the
funds are liquidated. The University expects the underlying assets of these funds to be substantially liquidated
over the next five to ten years, the timing of which would vary by fund and depend on market conditions as well as
other factors.
At June 30, 2014 and 2013, the fair value of a single Level 3 investment within the private equity asset class
was measured based on inputs other than NAV. The techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in the
June 30, 2013 valuation of this investment are summarized below:
						
				
Asset description		

Fair value at 		
June 30, 2013
Valuation Technique

				
Private company stock
$
68,466
							
				

			

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

Market comparable
EBITDA multiple (9.4x )
companies			
Discounted cash flow

Discount rate (12.5% )

								Terminal multiple (6.5x )

Management exercised judgment in weighting the techniques used in the valuation. At June 30, 2014, shares in
this investment are measured based on recent transaction activity. The $72,275 fair value of the investment at
June 30, 2014 is reflected within Level 3 private equity investments, as the University’s shares are subject to a
restriction on liquidation that extends until January 2015.

2014
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Changes in investments (excluding defined benefit pension plan assets) for which fair value is measured based on
Level 3 inputs are summarized below for the year ended June 30, 2014:
													 Net realized/			
					 Beginning								 unrealized 		 Transfers out			
					
Balance		Acquisitions			 Dispositions			
gains			
of Level 31			

Ending
Balance

Public equities:																		
		

U.S.		

$

48,139

		

Non-U.S.		

$

227,659		

35,186

$

30,000		

22,990			

$

(4,192 )

-			

$

148,727			

5,225		

$

(102,387 )		

(18,080 )

296,989

		Long/short
		
strategies		

571,312		

115,000			

-			

17,129			

(104,462 )		

598,979

Marketable
alternatives		

493,036		

189,838			

(91,918 )		

39,251			

(132,826 )		

497,381

Private equity		 2,362,199		

373,625			

(598,811 )		

636,170			

-			

2,773,183

Real estate		

638,555		

61,513			

(81,983 )		

40,397			

-			

658,482

Other real assets

543,913		

55,899			

(107,512 )		

99,022			

-			

591,322

				$ 4,871,860
1

$

848,865		 $

(884,416 )

$

985,921		
$

(357,755 )

$

5,464,475

Marketable alternatives include $152,940 in transfers out of Level 3 to Level 2, net of transfers into Level 3 from Level 2 of $20,114.

During the year ended June 30, 2014, the University recognized net unrealized gains of $581,434 on investments
still held at June 30, 2014 for which fair value is measured using Level 3 inputs. Except as noted above, transfers
out of Level 3 to Level 2 are reflected on a gross basis by asset class and represent the migration of assets
measured at fair value based on NAV (or its equivalent) that were eligible for redemption at the reporting date or
within the near term. There were no transfers in or out of Level 1 during the year ended June 30, 2014.
Changes in investments (excluding defined benefit pension plan assets) for which fair value is measured based on
Level 3 inputs are summarized below for the year ended June 30, 2013:
													 Net realized/			
					 Beginning								 unrealized			 Transfers out			
					
Balance		Acquisitions			 Dispositions			
gains			
of Level 3			

Ending
Balance
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Public equities:										
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U.S.		

$

35,186

		

Non-U.S.		

$

270,314		

135,106

$

62,730			

-		

$

(42,572 )

(5,637 )		

$

14,197		

36,612			

$

(136,360 )		

(71,545 )

227,659

		Long/short
strategies		

493,360		

85,657			

(3,299 )		

99,532			

(103,938 )		

571,312

Marketable
alternatives		

462,647		

165,229			

(175,088 )		

80,870			

(40,622 )		

Private equity		 2,280,293		

299,143			

(453,227 )		

235,990			

-

493,036
2,362,199

Real estate		

589,572		

82,879			

(70,728 )		

36,832			

-			

638,555

Other real assets

538,943		

62,244			

(64,357 )		

7,083			

-			

543,913

				$ 4,770,235

$

757,882		 $

(814,908 )

$

511,116		
$

(352,465 )

$

4,871,860

During the year ended June 30, 2013, the University recognized net unrealized gains of $208,410 on investments
still held at June 30, 2013 for which fair value is measured using Level 3 inputs. Transfers out of Level 3 to Level 2
are reflected on a gross basis by asset class and represent the migration of assets measured at fair value based
on NAV (or its equivalent) that were eligible for redemption at the reporting date or within the near term. There were
no transfers in or out of Level 1 during the year ended June 30, 2013.
Due to the pooled nature of assets held in the NDEP, a portion of any unrealized gains or losses is attributed to
NDEP holdings of split-interest agreements and the University’s religious affiliates.
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Investment Return
Investment return as reflected in the consolidated statements of changes in net assets is summarized as follows
for the years ended June 30:
							
Investment income, net

$

2014			
114,917		

$

2013
77,853

Net gain on investments:				
		

Realized gains, net		

499,162		

380,738

		

Unrealized gains, net		

868,732		

354,928

		

					

1,367,894		

735,666

						

$

1,482,811

2014
Total

								 Temporarily			 Permanently
					 Unrestricted			
restricted			 restricted
Investment income, net

$

Net gain on investments		
				

$

52,216

$

60,086

$

626,762			

740,809			

678,978		

800,895		

$

$

2,615		

$

114,917

323			

1,367,894

2,938		

$

1,482,811

$

		
		
$
		
$

813,519

2013
Total
77,853
735,666
813,519

Investment income is reported net of related expenses of $38,381 and $28,055 for the years ended June 30, 2014
and 2013, respectively. Investment-related expenses consist of fees paid to external investment managers, as well
as expenses related to internal investment office operations.
A portion of accumulated investment returns is distributed annually to beneficiary programs under the University’s
endowment spending policy. In addition, a portion of unrestricted returns accumulated on working capital and other
assets is distributed to supplement the University’s general operating needs and other initiatives. Accumulated
investment return distributed is summarized by source as follows for the years ended June 30:
						
Unrestricted				
Temporarily			
					
Operating			Non-operating		 restricted			
$

67,422		

Working capital		

Endowment (Note 16)

29,885		

				

$

97,307		

$

15,501		
-

$

15,501		

$
		
$

187,825		
187,825		

$
		
$

2014			
Total			

270,748		

$

29,885			
300,633		

$

2013
Total
256,641
30,631
287,272

2014
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Note 7.

Land, Buildings and Equipment
The following is a summary of land, buildings and equipment at June 30:
							
Land and land improvements

$

2014			
148,568		

$

2013
124,632

Buildings					
1,538,367			
1,456,549
Equipment				 270,643			255,478
Construction in progress		

49,488 		

80,988

							
2,007,066			
1,917,647
Less accumulated depreciation		
						

$

624,336			

567,455

1,382,730		$

1,350,192

Depreciation expense was $60,667 and $57,623 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
The University recorded accounts payable associated with construction in progress costs of $14,929 and $14,521
at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Changes in conditional asset retirement obligations are summarized as follows for the years ended June 30:
							
Beginning of year		

New obligations recognized		

		

Obligations settled 		

		

Accretion expense 		

		

Revisions in estimated cash flows		

university of notre dame

End of year			

40

$

		

$

2014			
23,443		
(586 )

$

24,813		

22,481

		

545

		

(408 )

845 		
1,111

2013

825
		

-

$

23,443
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Note 8.

Short-Term Borrowing
The University maintains a $200,000 commercial paper program under which it may issue either standard
or extendible municipal commercial paper through St. Joseph County, Indiana on behalf of the University.
Standard municipal commercial paper issues are supported by a $200,000 standby credit facility with a major
commercial bank. Interest on commercial paper may be either taxable or tax-exempt to investors, depending on
the University’s intended use of the proceeds. Generally, tax-exempt commercial paper is issued to finance the
purchase of equipment and improvements to educational facilities, while taxable commercial paper is issued to
provide funding for general uses.
The University also maintains unsecured lines of credit with commercial banks in the aggregate amount of
$300,000 to be utilized primarily for working capital purposes. Termination dates on lines of credit available at
June 30, 2014 ranged from January 2015 to March 2018.
Total outstanding balances on short-term borrowing are summarized below at June 30:
							
Standard taxable commercial paper

$

Lines of credit				
						

$

2014			
85,038

2013

$

-

58,000			

108,000

143,038		$

108,000

Total interest costs incurred on short-term borrowing were approximately $291 and $105 for the years ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Note 9.

Deferred Revenue and Refundable Advances
Deferred revenue and refundable advances are summarized as follows at June 30:
							
Deferred ticket sales and other revenues from intercollegiate athletics

$

2014			
47,309		

$

2013
46,234

Deferred tuition and other student revenues		

11,190			

13,765

Refundable advances for research and other sponsored programs		

22,787			

13,876

Other deferred revenues		

2,321			

2,250

83,607		$

76,125

2014			

2013

						

$

Note 10.

Deposits and Other Liabilities
							
$

11,922		

$

13,272

Accrued compensation and employee benefits		

42,969			

37,248

Payroll and other taxes payable		

11,746			

11,661

Student organization funds and other deposits		

7,755			

9,182

Self-insurance reserves		

8,090			

8,619

Accrued interest expense, pledges payable and other liabilities		

14,680			

18,925

97,162		$

98,907

						

$
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Debt-related derivative instruments (Note 12)

2014

Deposits and other liabilities are summarized as follows at June 30:
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Note 11.

Bonds and Notes Payable
Bonds and notes payable consist of the following at June 30:
							

2014			

2013

Obligations of the University:				
		

St. Joseph County (Indiana) Educational Facilities Revenue Bonds1

$

356,252		

		

Series 2012 Taxable Fixed Rate Bonds		

100,000		

$

358,973
100,000

		

Series 2010 Taxable Fixed Rate Bonds		

160,000			

160,000

		

Series 2009 Taxable Fixed Rate Notes		

-			

150,000

		

Mortgage notes payable		

15,435			

15,435

							 631,387			784,408
Obligations of consolidated company:				
		

Mortgage note payable		

						

$

36,845			

37,512

668,532		$

821,920

Includes the unamortized Series 2009 bond premium of $6,687 and $6,858 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

1

The estimated fair value of bond and note obligations was $724,214 and $832,968 at June 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Fair value measurements of bonds and notes are based on observable interest rates and maturity
schedules that fall within Level 2 of the hierarchy of fair value inputs. The aggregate scheduled maturities of bonds
and notes payable are summarized by fiscal year as follows:
2015				

$

3,345		

2016					 38,865		
2017					

3,327		

2018					

3,432		

2019					

2,748		

Thereafter				 610,128
						

$

661,845			

The Series 2012 Taxable Fixed Rate Bonds bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.72 percent and are due March 1, 2043.
The Series 2010 Taxable Fixed Rate Bonds bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.90 percent and are due March 1, 2041.
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The Series 2009 Taxable Fixed Rate Notes bore interest at a fixed rate of 4.141 percent and were repaid in
September 2013.
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Proceeds from Taxable Fixed Rate Bonds and Notes bear no restrictions on use and constitute unsecured general
obligations of the University. The associated interest is taxable to investors. Interest costs incurred on Taxable
Fixed Rate Bonds and Notes were $12,595 and $17,772 during the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Mortgage notes in the amount of $15,435 bear interest at a fixed rate of 1.103 percent and are due on July 1, 2042.
These notes are collateralized by the facilities to which they relate. The University incurred interest costs of $173
on the notes during the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.
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The University is the majority owner of an externally managed limited liability company, the activities of which are
reflected in the University’s consolidated financial statements. The company’s assets consist primarily of real
estate, the acquisition of which was financed in part with a note payable bearing interest at 5.68 percent, due on
February 1, 2016. The note is not a general obligation of the University and is fully collateralized by the property
acquired. Interest costs of $2,031 and $2,136 related to the note are reflected within non-operating changes in
unrestricted net assets for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
St. Joseph County (Indiana) Educational Facilities Revenue Bonds
The proceeds from St. Joseph County (Indiana) Educational Facilities Revenue Bonds (“SJC bonds”) were restricted
to the campus facilities projects specified in the respective offering documents. SJC bonds represent general
obligations of the University and are not collateralized by any facilities. Interest on SJC bonds is tax-exempt to
investors. The following issues were outstanding at June 30:
					
Outstanding			
Current rate				
2014			
					 through			
of interest1			

2013

Issues bearing variable rates:						
		

Series 2003		

2038			

0.040%		

$

45,110		

		

Series 2005		

2040			

0.020%			

75,000		

75,000

		

Series 2007		

2042			

0.040%			

75,000		

75,000

											

$

195,110			

47,660

197,660

Issues bearing fixed rates:						
		

Series 1996		

2026			

6.500%			

7,890			

7,890

		Series 20092		

2036			

5.000%			

153,252			

153,423

											

161,142			

161,313

										

356,252		

358,973

$

$

Variable rates reset weekly. Represents annual percentage rate in effect at June 30, 2014.
Carrying amount includes the unamortized premium of $6,687 and $6,858 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

1

2

In the event the University receives notice of any optional tender of the variable rate SJC bonds, or if the bonds
become subject to mandatory tender, the purchase price of the bonds will be paid from the remarketing of such
bonds. The University maintains standby credit facilities with commercial banks to provide alternative liquidity
to support the repurchase of tendered variable rate SJC bonds in the event they are unable to be remarketed.
Financing obtained through standby credit facilities to fund the repurchase of such bonds would bear interest
rates different from those associated with the original bond issues, and mature over the five year period following
repurchase. The standby credit facilities in effect at June 30, 2014 expire in February and May 2015.

2014

The University utilizes interest rate swap agreements (see also Note 12) as a strategy for managing interest rate
risk associated with variable rate SJC bond issues. Under the terms of swap agreements in effect at June 30, 2014,
the University pays fixed rates ranging from 2.01 percent to 4.97 percent and receives variable rates equal
to 67 percent or 70 percent of the one-month or three-month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) on total
notional amounts of $188,755. The estimated fair value of interest rate swaps was a net unrealized loss position
of $8,092 and $6,808 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Interest costs incurred on SJC bonds and periodic net settlements paid to counterparties pursuant to associated
interest rate swaps are summarized below for the years ended June 30:
								

2014						

					
Interest			 Net periodic			
					expense1 		 settlements			
Issues bearing variable rates

$

Issues bearing fixed rates		
				

$

75		

$

7,670			
7,745		

$

5,276		

$

-			
5,276		

$

2013

Interest			 Net periodic
expense1			 settlements
$

5,342

7,677			

227		

-

7,904		

$

5,342

Includes amortization of Series 2009 premium of $171 and $164 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
The premium is amortized using the effective interest method over the period the bonds are outstanding.
1

Note 12.

Derivative Instruments
The University utilizes a variety of derivative instruments within the NDEP, including certain options contracts,
forward currency contracts and futures contracts. As described in Note 11, the University also utilizes interest rate
swap agreements to manage interest rate risk associated with its variable rate bond obligations.
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Derivatives by their nature bear, to varying degrees, elements of market risk and credit risk that are not reflected
in the amounts recorded in financial statements. Market risk in this context represents the potential for changes
in the value of derivative instruments due to levels of volatility and liquidity or other events affecting the underlying
asset, reference rate, or index, including those embodied in interest and foreign exchange rate movements and
fluctuations in commodity or security prices. Credit risk is the possibility that a loss may occur due to the failure
of a counterparty to perform according to the terms of a contract. The University’s risk of loss in the event of
counterparty default is typically limited to the amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
position, not the notional amounts of the instruments, and is further limited by the collateral arrangements as
specified for specific instruments.
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Collateral associated with NDEP derivatives is moved as required by market fluctuations, and is generally in
the form of cash or cash equivalents. Interest rate swaps associated with the University’s variable rate bonds
have credit-risk-related contingent features that could require the University to post collateral on instruments
in net liability positions in the event of a downgrade to the rating on the University’s debt. The aggregate fair
value of interest rate swaps with credit-risk-related contingent features that were in liability positions was
$11,922 and $13,272 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. If the credit-risk-related contingent features
associated with these instruments had been triggered, the University would have been required to post collateral
to its counterparties in an amount up to the full liability position of the instruments, depending on the level of
the University’s credit rating. Based on the quality of its credit rating, the University had posted no collateral
associated with these instruments at June 30, 2014.
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The estimated fair values of derivative assets and liabilities, certain of which are reflected on a net-by-counterparty
basis within the consolidated statements of financial position, are summarized in the table below at June 30, 2014,
along with the net gains and losses for the year then ended:
					
					

Notional 			
amounts			

Derivative 			
assets 		

Derivative 			
liabilities			

Net
gain/(loss )

NDEP derivatives:								
		Options contracts1,2

$

		Equity contracts2		
		

511,024		

$

-			

2,155		

$

- 		

Forward currency contracts2		

1,002			

-

		

		Futures contracts3		

107,194			

23

		

-		

$

(5,678 )

-			

9,402

1

		

(224 )

62			

1,363

			

Gross value					

2,178		

63			

4,863

			

Counterparty netting					

-		

-			

-

			

Net by counterparty				

$

2,178		

$

63		

$

4,863

Debt-related derivatives:										
$
188,755		
$
3,830		 $
11,922		
		
Interest rate contracts2

$

(6,560 )

Includes interest rate contracts at June 30, 2014.
Fair value measurements of over-the-counter derivative instruments are based on observable inputs, such as relevant interest rates and
commodity prices, that fall within Level 2 of the hierarchy of fair value inputs.
3
Futures contracts are exchange-traded. Fair value is based on quoted prices that fall within Level 1 of the hierarchy of fair value inputs.
Notional amount on futures at June 30, 2014 represents long exposures.
1

2

The estimated fair values of derivative assets and liabilities, certain of which are reflected on a net-by-counterparty
basis within the consolidated statements of financial position, are summarized in the table below at June 30, 2013,
along with the net gains and losses for the year then ended:
					
					

Notional 			
amounts			

Derivative 			
assets 		

Derivative 			
liabilities			

Net
gain/(loss )

NDEP derivatives:								
		Options contracts1:										
			

Interest rates

$

6,665		

			

Commodities		

290,913			

36		

			

Foreign currency		

400,000			

		Equity contracts1		

20,488			

Forward currency contracts1		

		Futures contracts2		

		

$

511,024		

$

7,096

-			

(3,330 )

1,133		

-			

10,155

81		

2,261			

3,758

2,731			

1		

2			

(909 )

86,084			

-		

722			

(1,036 )

7,916		

2,985			

15,734

(1 )		

-

			

Gross value					

			

Counterparty netting					

			

Net by counterparty				

$

$

(1 )		
7,915		

$

-		

2,984		

$

15,734

Debt-related derivatives:										
$
192,500		
$
6,464		 $
13,272		
		
Interest rate contracts1

$

14,756

2014
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1
Fair value measurements of over-the-counter derivative instruments are based on observable inputs, such as relevant interest rates and
commodity prices, that fall within Level 2 of the hierarchy of fair value inputs.
2
Futures contracts are exchange-traded. Fair value is based on quoted prices that fall within Level 1 of the hierarchy of fair value inputs.
Notional amount on futures at June 30, 2013 represents long exposures.
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Derivative assets and liabilities are reflected within the following lines of the consolidated statements of financial
position at June 30:
							

2014			

2013

NDEP derivatives:								
		Investments1 		
		

$

Liabilities associated with investments (Note 6)		

2,178		

$

63			

7,915
2,984

		
Debt-related derivatives:							
		

Deferred charges and other assets (Note 3)

		

Deposits and other liabilities (Note 10)		

$

$

6,464

11,922			

3,830

13,272

Reflected within the “Short-term investments” investment class in Note 6.

1

Certain options contracts may be employed within the NDEP with the intent of protecting the investment portfolio
against significant fluctuations in interest rates, commodity prices and other market fluctuations. Options
contracts held in the NDEP are fully collateralized at June 30, 2014. Forward currency contracts are utilized
to settle planned purchases or sales, for investment purposes, and to mitigate the impact of exchange rate
fluctuations on the U.S. dollar value of NDEP international holdings. A variety of currency, interest rate, equity,
bond and commodities futures contracts are also employed in the NDEP to manage exposure to various financial
markets.
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Gains and losses on derivative instruments held in the NDEP are primarily included in the net gain or loss on
investments as reflected in the consolidated financial statements. However, due to the pooled nature of the NDEP,
a minor portion of these gains and losses is attributed to NDEP holdings of split-interest agreements and the
University’s religious affiliates. The net gain or loss on debt-related derivatives (interest rate swaps associated with
the University’s variable rate bonds) is reported as such within non-operating changes in unrestricted net assets.
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Note 13.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
Defined Contribution Retirement Savings Plan
Faculty and exempt staff participate in the University of Notre Dame 403(b) Retirement Plan, a defined
contribution retirement plan, upon meeting eligibility requirements. The plan, operated under section 403(b) of the
Internal Revenue Code, is funded by mandatory employee contributions and University contributions. All faculty
and staff may also participate in the plan on a voluntary basis by making voluntary employee contributions up to
the annual limit established by the Internal Revenue Service. Participants are immediately vested in the plan, and
may direct their contributions and the University’s contributions on their behalf to any of the fund sponsors: Fidelity,
TIAA-CREF and Vanguard. The University’s share of the cost of these benefits was $28,096 and $26,558 for the
years ended June 30, 2014, and 2013, respectively.
Defined Benefit Pension Plan and Postretirement Medical Insurance Benefits
Retirement benefits are provided for University staff under a defined benefit pension plan, for which the University
serves as trustee and administrator. This plan provides benefits for certain non-exempt staff after one year of
qualifying service. Retirement benefits are based on the employee’s total years of service and final average pay as
defined by the plan. Plan participants are fully vested after five years of service. The University funds the plan with
annual contributions that meet minimum requirements under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974 and Pension Protection Act of 2006.
Other postretirement benefit plans offered by the University provide either medical insurance benefits for retirees
and their spouses or Health Reimbursement Accounts upon which Medicare-eligible retirees may draw to purchase
individual Medicare supplemental coverage. Employees are eligible for such benefits if they retire after attaining
specified age and service requirements while employed by the University. The plans hold no assets and are funded
by the University as claims are paid.
The University recognizes the full funded status of its defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit
plans in the consolidated statements of financial position. Accordingly, the liability for pension benefits as
recognized in the statement of financial position represents the excess of the actuarially determined projected
benefit obligation (“PBO”) over the fair value of plan assets at year end. The liability for other postretirement
benefits as recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position represents the actuarially determined
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (“APBO”) at year end. The following table summarizes the liabilities
for pension and other postretirement benefits reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position at
June 30:
		

					

2014

		

2013

Liability for pension benefits:				
		

PBO at end of year

		

Less: Fair value of plan assets at end of year (Note 6)		

$

		

					

$

196,505
132,045

67,246		

64,460

40,434 		

36,475

107,680 		$

100,935
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$

2014

Liability for other postretirement benefits (APBO at year end)		

220,194		

152,948			
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Changes in the actuarially determined benefit obligations are summarized below for the years ended June 30:
									
Pension benefits (PBO)
		
			
2014		
2013			
Beginning of year

$

196,505		

$

36,475		

		

Service cost		

6,687		

7,339			

2,054		

2,174

		

Interest cost		

9,586		

8,928			

1,724		

1,595

		

Plan amendments		

-		

-			

		

Actuarial loss/(gain)		

14,610		

(17,557 )		

		

Benefit payments		

End of year

$

$

(7,194 )		
220,194		

$

204,977		

Other postretirement
benefits (APBO)
2014		
2013

(7,182 )		
196,505		

$

$

38,295

(178 )		
1,306

(199 )

		

(4,503 )

(947 )		

(887 )

40,434		

$

36,475

The accumulated benefit obligation associated with pension benefits was $190,236 and $168,647 at June 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively.
The change in the fair value of pension plan assets is summarized below for the years ended June 30:
		

					

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year

2014

		

2013

$

120,150

$

132,045		

		

Actual return on plan assets		

18,755		

		

Employer contributions		

9,342		

6,791

(7,194 )		

(7,182 )

		Benefit payments		
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

$

152,948		

12,286

$

132,045

The components of net periodic benefit cost recognized within operating expenses in the consolidated statements
of changes in unrestricted net assets are summarized as follows for the years ended June 30:
		
Pension benefits
		
			
2014		
2013			
Service cost

$

6,687		

Interest cost		

9,586		

Expected return on plan assets		

$

(10,031 ) 		

7,339		

Other postretirement
benefits
2014		
2013

$

2,054		

8,928			

1,724		

(9,954 )		

-

$

2,174
1,595

		

-

Amounts recognized previously as									
non-operating changes in net assets:									
		

Amortization of net loss		

		
		

Amortization of prior 									
service cost/(credit)		
433 		
432			
(7,659 ) 		
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3,190		

4,494			

		

3,623

		

$

9,865

$

4,926			
11,239		

$

1,183		

1,685
(7,563 )

(6,476 ) 		

(5,878 )

(2,698 )

(2,109 )

$

The amortization of any prior service cost or credit is determined using straight-line amortization over the average
remaining service period of employees expected to receive benefits under the respective plans.
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Gains or losses and other changes in the actuarially determined benefit obligations arising in the current period,
but not included in net periodic benefit cost, are recognized as non-operating changes in the consolidated
statements of changes in unrestricted net assets. These changes are reflected net of a contra-expense
adjustment for amounts recognized previously, but included as components of net periodic benefit cost in the
current period. Accordingly, the net non-operating increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets related to pension
and other postretirement benefits is summarized as follows for the years ended June 30:
		
Pension benefits
		
			
2014		
2013			
Net actuarial gain/(loss)

$

(5,886 )

$

Plan amendments		

-

		

$

(1,306 )

$

4,503

-			

178

		

199

Adjustment for components of net periodic									
benefit cost recognized previously		
3,623		
4,926			
(6,476 ) 		

(5,878 )

				

$

(2,263 )

$

19,889		

Other postretirement
benefits
2014		
2013

24,815		

$

(7,604 )

$

(1,176 )

Cumulative amounts recognized as non-operating changes in unrestricted net assets that had not yet been
reflected within net periodic benefit cost are summarized as follows at June 30:
		
Pension benefits
		
			
2014		
2013			
Net loss		

$

57,109		

Prior service cost/(credit)		

2,693		

				

$

59,802		

$

54,413		

$

3,126			
$

57,539		

$

Other postretirement
benefits
2014		
2013
$

16,382

(19,787 )		

16,505		

(27,268 )

(3,282 )

$

(10,886 )

The University expects to amortize the following as components of net periodic benefit cost during the year ending
June 30, 2015:
		
Pension benefits
Net loss					

$

Prior service cost/(credit)					

Other postretirement
benefits

3,603					

$

1,266

432 					

(7,659 )

The following weighted-average assumptions were used in measuring the actuarially determined benefit
obligations (PBO for pension benefits and APBO for other postretirement benefits) at June 30:
		
Pension benefits
		
			
2014		
2013			

Other postretirement
benefits
2014		
2013

Discount rate		

4.50%			

5.00%			

4.50%			

Rate of compensation increase		

4.00%			

4.00%			

-			

5.00%
-

Health care cost trend rate		
(grading to 5.00% in 2021)

-			

-			

7.25%			

7.50%

2014
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The following weighted-average assumptions were used in measuring the actuarially determined net periodic
benefit costs for the years ended June 30:
		
Pension benefits
		
			
2014		
2013			
Discount rate		

5.00%			

4.50%			

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets		

7.75%			

8.00%			

Rate of compensation increase		

4.00%			

4.00%			

Health care cost trend rate (grading to 5.00% in 2018)								

Other postretirement
benefits
2014		
2013
5.00%			

4.50%

7.50%			

8.00%

The expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets is based on the consideration of both historical and
forecasted investment performance, given the targeted allocation of the plan’s assets to various investment classes.
A one-percentage-point increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have increased aggregate
service and interest costs and the APBO associated with postretirement medical benefits by approximately $148
and $920, respectively. A one-percentage-point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have
decreased aggregate service and interest costs and the APBO by approximately $133 and $840, respectively.
The projected payments to beneficiaries under the respective plans for each of the five fiscal years subsequent to
June 30, 2014 are as follows: 							
		
Pension benefits
2015					

$

2016						

Other postretirement
benefits
$

1,359

8,239						

7,816					

1,571

2017						

8,763						

1,809

2018						

9,343						

2,079

2019						

10,017						

2,330

Projected aggregate payments for pension benefits and other postretirement benefits for the five year period
ending June 30, 2024 are $61,784 and $15,454, respectively. The University’s estimated contributions to the
defined benefit pension plan for the year subsequent to June 30, 2014 are $6,700.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plan Assets
The plan’s assets are invested in a manner that is intended to preserve the purchasing power of the plan’s assets
and provide payments to beneficiaries. Thus, a rate of return objective of inflation plus 5.0 percent is targeted.
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The investment portfolio of the plan, which is invested with external investment managers, is diversified in a manner
that is intended to achieve the return objective and reduce the volatility of returns. The plan relies on a total return
strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and
current yield (interest and dividends) over a long-term time horizon.
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Actual and targeted allocations of the plan’s investments by asset class were as follows at June 30:
		

		

2014			

2013			

Short-term investments		

3.1%			

4.3%		

Target
0.0%

Public equities		47.4%			39.6%			45.0%
Fixed income securities		

17.7%			

18.0%		

15.0%

Hedge funds		

18.0%			

22.8%		

20.0%

Private equity		

7.4%			

7.0%		

10.0%

Real assets		

6.4%			

8.3%		

10.0%

100.0%		

100.0%

					

100.0%		

Asset allocation targets reflect the need for a modestly higher weighting in equity-based investments to achieve
the return objective. Decisions regarding allocations among asset classes are made when such actions are expected
to produce incremental return, reduce risk, or both. The investment characteristics of an asset class—including
expected return, risk, correlation, and its overall role in the portfolio—are analyzed when making such decisions.
The role of each asset class within the overall asset allocation of the plan is described as follows:
Public equities – Provides access to liquid markets and serves as a long-term hedge against inflation.
Fixed income securities – Provides a stable income stream and greater certainty of nominal cash flow relative to
the other asset classes. Given the low correlation to other asset classes, fixed income assets also enhance
diversification and serve as a hedge against financial turmoil or periods of deflation.
Hedge funds – Enhances diversification while providing equity-like returns and opportunities to benefit from

short-term inefficiencies in global capital markets.
Private equity – Provides attractive long-term, risk-adjusted returns by investing in inefficient markets.
Real assets – Provides attractive return prospects, further diversification and a hedge against inflation.

Fair value measurements of plan investments at June 30, 2014 are categorized below by level of the fair value
hierarchy according to the lowest level of inputs significant to each measurement:
					
Short-term investments

$

Level 1			
4,717		

$

Level 2			
-		

$

Level 3			
-		

Total

$

4,717
39,412

Public equities:								
		

U.S.			

20,704			

18,708			

-			

		

Non-U.S.		

12,209			

18,013			

2,790			

33,012

Fixed income securities		

27,081			

-			

-			

27,081

Hedge funds			-		

10,305			

17,286			

27,591

Private equity			-		

-			

11,260			

11,260

35			

6,047			

9,875

Real assets		
$

68,504		

$

47,061		

$

37,383		

$

152,948

2014

				

3,793			
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Fair value measurements of plan investments at June 30, 2013 are categorized below by level of the fair value
hierarchy according to the lowest level of inputs significant to each measurement:
					
Short-term investments

$

Level 1			
5,661		

$

Level 2			
-		

$

Level 3			
-		

Total

$

5,661
24,286

Public equities:								
		

U.S.			

11,122			

13,164			

-			

		

Non-U.S.		

9,957			

12,829			

5,297			

28,083

Fixed income securities		

23,809			

-			

-			

23,809
30,104

Hedge funds		

-			

10,923			

19,181			

Private equity		

-			

-			

9,217			

9,217

Real assets		

4,549			

299			

6,037			

10,885

				

$

55,098		

$

37,215		

$

39,732		

$

132,045

Changes in plan investments for which fair value is measured based on Level 3 inputs are summarized below for
the year ended June 30, 2014:
													 Net realized/			
					 Beginning								 unrealized 		
					Balance		
Acquisitions			
Dispositions			 gains1			

Transfers
out of			
Level 3			

Ending
Balance

Public equities: 												
		

$

283		

$

2,790

Hedge funds		

Non-U.S. $

19,181		

6,000			

(164 )		

2,040		

(9,771 )		

17,286

Private equity		

9,217		

2,045			

(1,983 )		

1,981		

-			

11,260

Real assets		

6,037		

128			

(1,107 )		

989		

-			

6,047

				$

5,297

39,732

$

$

-		

$

8,173		 $

-		

(3,254 )

$

$

5,293		
$

(2,790 )

(12,561 )

$

37,383

Included in the actual return on plan assets for the year ended June 30, 2014.

1

Transfers out of Level 3 to Level 2 are reflected on a gross basis by asset class and represent the migration of
assets measured at fair value based on NAV (or its equivalent) that were eligible for redemption at the reporting
date or within the near term. There were no transfers in or out of Level 1 during the year ended June 30, 2014.
Changes in plan investments for which fair value is measured based on Level 3 inputs are summarized below for
the year ended June 30, 2013:
													 Net realized/			
					 Beginning								 unrealized 		
					Balance		
Acquisitions			
Dispositions			 gains1 		

Transfers
out of			
Level 3			

Ending
Balance

Public equities: 												
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$

2,000		

$

638		

$

5,297

Hedge funds		

Non-U.S. $

16,928		

2,500		

(2,545 )		

2,298		

- 			

19,181

Private equity		

9,025		

1,323			

(1,714 )

		

583		

-			

9,217

Real assets		

6,011		

(626 )		

390		

-			

6,037

				

$

2,659

34,623

$

$

262		
6,085		

$

-		

(4,885 )

$

3,909		

$

$

Included in the actual return on plan assets for the year ended June 30, 2013.

1

No transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 were made during the year ended June 30, 2013.

-		

-		

$

39,732
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The plan is committed under contracts with certain investment managers to periodically advance additional funding
as capital calls are exercised. Capital calls are generally exercised over a period of years and are subject to fixed
expiration dates or other means of termination. Total commitments of $6,545 and $9,078 were uncalled at June 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively.
Note 14.

Unrestricted Net Assets
Unrestricted net assets consist of the following at June 30:
		

					

Endowment funds (Note 16)

$

2014
3,142,115		

		

2013

$

2,692,444

Investment in land, buildings and equipment:				
		

Land, buildings and equipment, net (Note 7)		

		

Accrued construction in progress (Note 7)		

(14,929 )		

(14,521 )

		

SJC bonds and mortgage notes payable (Note 11)		

(408,532 )		

(411,920 )

		

Conditional asset retirement obligation (Note 7)		

(24,813 )		

(23,443 )

			

1,382,730		

1,350,192

				

934,456		

900,308

Other unrestricted net assets		

289,174		

117,782

						

$

4,365,745		$

3,710,534

Note 15.

Restricted Net Assets
Temporarily restricted net assets are summarized as follows at June 30:
		

					

2014

		

2013

163,903

Expendable funds restricted for:				
		Operating purposes

$

168,457		$

Investment in land, buildings and equipment		

186,339			

79,626

Split-interest agreements (Note 17)		

62,693			

51,264

		

Endowment funds (Note 16):				
		

Accumulated appreciation on donor-restricted endowment		

2,964,550			

2,410,652

		

Funds functioning as endowment		

439,969			

364,714

							
3,404,519			
2,775,366
						

$

3,822,008		$

3,070,159

As described in Note 4, temporarily restricted net assets include contributions receivable of $168,229 and
$104,571 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
2014

Net assets released from restrictions for operations are summarized below for the years ended June 30:
					

2014

		

2013

Purpose restrictions satisfied:				
		

Scholarships and fellowships awarded

		

Expenditures for operating purposes		

						

$

$

$

73,627

132,683			

78,067		

122,892

210,750		$

196,519

Non-operating net assets released from restrictions reflect expenditures for land, buildings and equipment of
$42,475 and $40,861 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following at June 30:
		

					

Endowment funds (Note 16)

$

2014
1,642,462		

		

2013

$

1,491,241

Student loan funds			

2,460			

2,313

Split-interest agreements (Note 17)		

22,911			

16,716

Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts (Note 3)		

5,720			

5,172

						

$

1,673,553		$

1,515,442

As reflected in Notes 4 and 16, permanently restricted endowment funds include $138,946 and $93,132 in
contributions receivable at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Note 16.

Endowment
The University’s endowment consists of individual funds established for a variety of purposes. Net assets
associated with endowment funds, including funds functioning as endowment, are classified and reported in
accordance with any donor-imposed restrictions.
Endowment and funds functioning as endowment at June 30, 2014 are summarized below:
								 Temporarily			
								
restricted			
				 Unrestricted			
(Note 15)			

Permanently		
restricted		
(Note 15)			

Total

Funds established to support:								
		

Scholarships and fellowships

$

2,314,981

		

Faculty chairs		

126,277			

951,170			

290,918			

1,368,365

		

Academic programs		

242,346			

456,736			

227,514			

926,596

		

General operations		 1,251,518			

		

8,868			

1,327,329

		

Other		 1,059,739			

680,915			

361,831			

2,102,485

			 3,142,115			 3,394,125			

1,503,516			

8,039,756

138,946			

149,340

		

$

Contributions receivable (Note 4)		
				

$

462,235		

3,142,115		

$

		
$

1,238,361		

66,943

$

10,394			
3,404,519		

$

								 Temporarily			
				 Unrestricted			
restricted			
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$

(424 )

$

University-designated funds		 3,142,539		

3,394,125		

$

-

					 3,142,115			 3,394,125			
Contributions receivable (Note 4)		
				

$

3,142,115		

		
$

10,394			
3,404,519		

$

614,385		

1,642,462		

$

8,189,096

Permanently		
restricted			

Total

1,503,516		

$

4,897,217

-			

3,142,539

1,503,516			

8,039,756

138,946			

149,340

1,642,462		

$

8,189,096
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Endowment and funds functioning as endowment at June 30, 2013 are summarized below:
								 Temporarily			
								
restricted			
				 Unrestricted			
(Note 15)			

Permanently		
restricted		
(Note 15)			

Total

Funds established to support:								
		

Scholarships and fellowships

$

1,999,610

		

Faculty chairs		

109,726			

788,221			

266,457			

1,164,404

		

Academic programs		

200,193			

371,617			

219,907			

791,717

		

General operations		 1,079,231		

57,657			

8,857			

1,145,745

		

Other		

536,859			

319,256			

1,754,825

			 2,692,444			 2,765,748			

1,398,109			

6,856,301

93,132			

102,750

		

$

Contributions receivable (Note 4)		
				

$

404,584		

$

898,710			

1,011,394		

-			
2,692,444		

$

$

9,618			
2,775,366		

$

								 Temporarily			
				 Unrestricted			
restricted			
Donor-restricted funds

$

(221 )

$

2,765,748		

University-designated funds		 2,692,665		
		

$

-		

			 2,692,444			 2,765,748			

Contributions receivable (Note 4)		
				

$

-			
2,692,444		

$

9,618			
2,775,366		

$

583,632		

1,491,241		

$

6,959,051

Permanently		
restricted			

Total

1,398,109		

$

4,163,636

-			

2,692,665

1,398,109			

6,856,301

93,132			

102,750

1,491,241		

$

6,959,051

The fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may fall below the level
required by donor stipulations when the timing of contributions coincides with unfavorable market fluctuations.
Unrealized depreciation of this nature amounted to $424 and $221 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, as
reflected in the preceding tables.
Endowment funds are invested primarily in the NDEP, described in Note 6. However, certain funds are invested
outside of the NDEP in accordance with donor requirements and other considerations.
Changes in endowment and funds functioning as endowment were as follows for the year ended June 30, 2014:
								 Temporarily			
				 Unrestricted			
restricted			
Beginning of the year

$

2,692,444		

$

2,775,366		

$

Permanently		
restricted			
1,491,241		

$

Total
6,959,051

								
Contributions		

18,494		

3,000		

149,833		

171,327

Investment return:								
		

Investment income		

39,177		

57,841		

2,609		

99,627

		

Net gain on investments		

476,678		

740,521		

183		

1,217,382

				

$

(1,755 )		
3,142,115		

$

15,616		
3,404,519		

$

-			

(270,748 )

(1,404 )		

12,457

1,642,462		

$

8,189,096
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2014

Accumulated investment 								
return distributed (Note 6)		
(82,923 )		
(187,825 )		
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Changes in endowment and funds functioning as endowment were as follows for the year ended June 30, 2013:
								 Temporarily			
				 Unrestricted			
restricted			
Beginning of the year

$

2,499,911		

$

2,518,261		

$

Permanently		
restricted			
1,426,427		

$

Total
6,444,599

								
Contributions		

7,472		

7,291		

64,193		

78,956

Investment return:								
		

Investment income		

27,111		

39,837		

		

Net gain/(loss) on investments		

259,555		

397,546		

1,553		

68,501

(81 )		

657,020

Accumulated investment 								
return distributed (Note 6)		

(79,699 )		

(176,942 )		

-			

(256,641 )

Other changes, net		

(21,906 )		

(10,627 )		

(851 )		

(33,384 )

				

$

2,692,444		

$

2,775,366		

$

1,491,241		

$

6,959,051

Other changes include appropriations of approximately $52,000 from funds functioning as endowment to
fund certain capital projects, offset by the designation of other University net assets as funds functioning as
endowment.
The University has adopted an endowment spending policy that attempts to meet three objectives: (1) provide a
predictable, stable stream of earnings to fund participants; (2) ensure the purchasing power of this revenue stream
does not decline over time; and (3) ensure the purchasing power of the endowment assets does not decline over
time. Under this policy, as approved by the Board of Trustees, investment income, as well as a prudent portion of
appreciation, may be appropriated to support the needs of fund participants.
Accumulated investment return distributed (i.e., appropriated) under the University’s endowment spending policy is
summarized below by the purposes associated with applicable funds for the years ended June 30:
								
Temporarily			
				 Unrestricted			
restricted			

2014			
Total			

2013
Total

Operating purposes:								
		

Scholarships and fellowships

$

90,723

		

Faculty chairs		

$

5,274			

49,356			

54,630			

51,943
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$

76,482		

$

95,629		

27,676

		

Academic programs		

1,035			

28,145			

29,180			

		

Libraries		

369			

8,013			

8,382			

7,931

		

Other endowed programs		

8,124			

22,638			

30,762			

28,230

		

General operations		

33,473			

3,191			

36,664			

35,559

					

67,422			

187,825			

255,247			

242,062

Capital projects		
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19,147		

				

$

15,501		
82,923		

$

187,825		

		

15,501		

$

270,748		

14,579
$

256,641
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Note 17.

Split-Interest Agreements
The University’s split-interest agreements consist principally of charitable gift annuities and irrevocable charitable
remainder trusts for which the University serves as trustee. Split-interest agreement net assets consisted of the
following at June 30:
								 Temporarily			Permanently				
								
restricted			 restricted			
2014			
					
Unrestricted			(Note 15)			
(Note 15)			
Total			

2013
Total

Charitable trust assets, held in:										
		NDEP (Note 6)

$

163,313

		

Other investments (Note 6)		

$

-

-		

$

123,728		

10,533			

$

67,007		

3,757			

$

190,735		

14,290			

9,839

		

			

-

134,261			

70,764			

205,025			

173,152

Less obligations1 associated with:										
		

Charitable trusts		

-

70,356			

44,812			

115,168			

101,129

		

Charitable gift annuities		

2,558 		

1,212			

3,041			

6,811			

6,650

		

			

2,558			

71,568			

47,853

121,979			

107,779

(2,558 )

62,693		

22,911		

				
1

$

$

$

		
$

83,046		

$

65,373

Represents the present value of estimated future payments to beneficiaries.

Assets contributed pursuant to the University’s charitable gift annuity program are not held in trust, and based
on the nature of the agreements, are designated as funds functioning as endowment. The aggregate fair value of
these assets was $24,208 and $19,594 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Changes in split-interest agreement net assets are summarized below for the years ended June 30:
								 Temporarily			Permanently			
					 Unrestricted			
restricted			 restricted			

2014			
Total			

2013
Total

Contributions:										
		

Assets received

$

161		

$

11,038		

$

6,439

$

$

57,694

(12,007 )		

(27,758 )

5,631			

29,936

11,181			

		Discounts recognized1		

(84 )		

(7,578 )		

(4,345 )		

		

77		

3,460		

2,094		

			

17,638		

Change in value of agreements:										
		

Investment return, net		

-

32,785			

15,682

		

Payments to beneficiaries		

(384 )		

		

21,604		

(3,998 )		

(11,031 )		

(8,634 )

		

Actuarial adjustments and										
other changes in obligations		
133			
(1,175 ) 		
(1,151 ) 		

(2,193 )		

(3,289 )

(6,649 )		

(251 )

		

13,780		

Transfers and other changes, net		

223

		

(5,811 )

		

49

$

11,429		

$

				
1

$

6,032		
(1,931 )		
6,195		

$

3,759

(7,519 ) 		
17,673		

$

(206 )
33,489
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Represents the present value of estimated future payments to beneficiaries.

19,561		
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Note 18.

Grants and Contracts
The University recognized operating revenues based on direct expenditures and related indirect costs funded by
grants and contracts as follows for the years ended June 30:
											
					
Direct			
Indirect			

2014			
Total			

2013
Total

Provided for:								
		

Research

		

Other sponsored programs		

				

$

$

77,117		

$

11,290			
88,407		

$

21,234		

$

168			
21,402		

$

											
					
Direct			
Indirect			

$

98,124

11,458			

98,351		

7,136

109,809		

$

105,260

2014			
Total			

2013
Total

Provided by:								
		

Federal agencies

		

State and local agencies		

311			

46			

357			

383

		

Private organizations		

21,563			

2,390			

23,953			

20,389

				

$

$

66,533		

88,407		

$

$

18,966		

21,402		

$

$

85,499		

109,809		

$

$

84,488

105,260

Funding for federally sponsored research and other programs is received from the U.S. government, as well as from
other universities and private organizations that subcontract sponsored research to the University. The University’s
primary sources of federal research support are the Department of Health and Human Services and the National
Science Foundation.
The University also administers certain federally sponsored programs, primarily related to student financial aid,
for which it recognizes neither revenues nor expenses. Receipts and disbursements for such programs totaled
$12,971 for the year ended June 30, 2014, including $5,867 related to Reserve Officers Training Corps (“ROTC”)
scholarships. Receipts and disbursements for the year ended June 30, 2013 were $12,248, including $6,090 in
ROTC scholarships.
Note 19.
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The University is a defendant in various legal actions arising out of the normal course of its operations. Although
the final outcome of such actions cannot currently be determined, the University believes that eventual liability, if
any, will not have a material effect on the University’s financial position.
All funds expended in conjunction with government grants and contracts are subject to audit by government
agencies. In the opinion of management, any liability resulting from these audits will not have a material effect on
the University’s financial position.
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The University leases space for academic and administrative purposes under noncancelable operating leases.
Minimum future payments under these lease agreements are summarized by fiscal year as follows:
2015								

$

1,798

2016									 1,826
2017									 1,826
2018									 1,826
2019									 1,826
2020 through 2080								

52,557

										 $

61,659

At June 30, 2014, the University also has commitments to expend approximately $65,200 to complete various
construction projects.

2014
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